IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 89057

Electronically Filed Jul 22 2021 09:40 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.; CHRISTOPHER of Supreme Court KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC; and CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI,

Appellants,

v.

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC.; LANE F. SMITH, M.D.,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 PISANELLI BICE PLLC 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Appellants

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the district court's denial of the Khorsandi Parties' special motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.670(4). (*See also* Order Dismissing Cross-Appeal and Allowing Appeal to Proceed, Apr. 9, 2021 (finding that this Court had jurisdiction to hear the appeal).) The Notice of Entry of Order on Defendants' Special Motion to Dismiss was filed on March 10, 2020. (APP167.) The Khorsandi Parties timely filed their Notice of Appeal on March 31, 2020. (APP181.)

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain review of this appeal. NRS 41.670(4) provides that "[i]f the court denies the special motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Khorsandi Parties bring this appeal to determine the scope of Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes, specifically whether defendants who deny making the allegedly defamatory statements are entitled to the protections of Nevada's

1

The Khorsandi Parties refers collectively to Appellants/Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D. ("Dr. Khorsandi"), Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC (the "Practice"), and Catherine Le Khorsandi ("Ms. Le").

anti-SLAPP statutes, including an expedited determination on the merits of the claims.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents Lane F. Smith, M.D. and Smith Plastic Surgery's ("Respondents") meritless action against the Khorsandi Parties is yet another example of their practice of lashing out when concerns about the quality of their care are raised. Respondents are so defensive about anything they perceive as publicly critical of their deficient medical services that they have filed suit against former patients about negative reviews, sent cease-and-desist letters, and have been flagged by Yelp as making "Questionable Legal Threats." (APP075-76.) Respondents became so incensed by a patient's positive review of Dr. Khorsandi that stated he was able to relieve her pain and fix her implant. Displeased by the review's implication that Respondents had provided inadequate care, Respondents sent Dr. Khorsandi a cease-and-desist letter asking him to remove the review even though Dr. Khorsandi had not authored the review. Respondents then received a series of anonymous negative reviews that they successfully had Yelp remove despite the statements being similar to other negative reviews that had been posted by other patients. Respondents filed a complaint against the Khorsandi Parties based on these negative reviews.

The Khorsandi Parties moved to dismiss these claims at the district court on two bases. First, Respondents' lawsuit was precisely the type of lawsuit that Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute was intended to prevent: A meritless lawsuit filed to obtain a financial advantage and intimidate others about an issue of public concern, *i.e.*, the quality of medical care provided by a medical doctor. Respondents' conduct in filing suit against the Khorsandi Parties was particularly egregious here, as both Dr. Khorsandi and Ms. Le submitted declarations that they had not made these statements. The Khorsandi Parties are therefore limited to establishing their good faith under the first prong of NRS 41.660(3) by establishing simply that they had nothing to do with the posts that form the basis for Respondents' complaint. All of Respondents' claims stem from protected speech, and therefore must be dismissed. Second, Respondents' complaint was plainly deficient under NRCP 12(b)(5) and failed to adequately state claims for relief, especially as they pled no facts that would implicate Dr. Khorsandi or the Practice in the posting of these negative reviews.

With the Khorsandi Parties satisfying their obligation to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the statements that form the basis of Respondents' complaint were good faith communications about an issue of public concern, the burden shifted to Respondents to present prima facie evidence to show a probability of prevailing on the merits under NRS 41.660(3)(b). Respondents failed to meet that burden. Instead of presenting *any* evidence to support their

claims, Respondents relied on the argument of counsel and references to "[p]reliminary research [that] shows that the defamatory statements were made at times and locations around the country where Dr. Khorsandi and [Ms. Le] were located." (APP105.) Counsel's argument at the hearing only highlighted the lack of evidence, vaguely referring to unrelated, non-defamatory posts that are not at issue in this litigation and not in the record. (APP156-58.) Respondents presented no evidence to show that the Khorsandi Parties were involved in these posts, let alone providing prima facie evidence that they would prevail on their claims against the Khorsandi Parties.

After taking the special motion to dismiss under advisement, the district court issued its Order on Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le Khorsandi's Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(B)(5) (hereinafter "Order"). The district court found that if the Khorsandi Parties "did not make the communications, the statute does not appear to apply to [Respondents'] Complaint." (APP171.) The district court recognized that California courts have found that preventing a defendant who denies making the statement from prosecuting a motion to dismiss under the anti-SLAPP statute "would create an irrational procedure in which a defendant is precluded from mounting an anti-SLAPP challenge to factually baseless claims." (APP173.) However, because

Nevada has a requirement that the protected statements be made in good faith and "since [the Khorsandi Parties] deny making the statement, the Court finds there cannot be an analysis whether the statements were made in 'good faith,' which is the first consideration in each of the NRS anti-SLAP statutes: NRS 41.637(4), NRS 41.650, NRS 41.660." (APP173-74.) The district court also denied the motion to dismiss, stating that Respondents have "met the very low threshold for surviving a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss because he and his practice have stated claims on which relief can be granted." (APP174.) Still, the district court recognized the absolute lack of evidence Respondents have provided, and expressed concern about allowing a case to go forward on the lack of evidence. (APP174-75.)

Dr. Khorsandi and Ms. Le will not admit making the statements or authoring the posts in order to receive the protections of the anti-SLAPP statutes, and the Practice is not alleged to have any involvement in any of the purportedly defamatory statements. Permitting Respondents' complaint to go forward after Appellants have shown that the statements were made in good faith the only way they could – by denying they made the statements – undermines the purposes of the anti-SLAPP statute. The district court erred when it found that the statute did not apply to circumstances where the defendant denies making the statement. The Court should reverse the district court's decision and grant the Khorsandi Parties' special motion

to dismiss as Respondents provided no evidence whatsoever that could show a probability of prevailing on the claim.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Respondents have a Pattern of Reactionary Tactics to Negative Reviews.

Dr. Smith is a plastic surgeon practicing in Las Vegas, Nevada with his own practice - Smith Plastic Surgery. (APP002, ¶¶ 1-2.) As with so many others, Respondents rely heavily on websites like Yelp to present an appearance of professionalism and reach out to potential clients. Respondents' Yelp page, however, shows a series of negative reviews about the quality of their care. (APP088-102.) In an effort to rehabilitate their image, Respondents maintain an active presence on their public review platforms. This includes responding to individuals who post negative reviews about the services Respondents have provided, sending cease and desist letters, and even filing suit in an effort to take down negative reviews. (APP044-73.) Respondents' playbook is so well known that their Yelp page includes a warning about their conduct and attempts to silence anyone who dares to raise concerns about the quality-of-care Respondents have provided.²

² "Consumer Alert: Questionable Legal Threats This business may have tried to abuse the legal system in an effort to stifle free speech, for example through legal threats or commercial gag clauses. As a reminder, reviewers who share their

Respondents appear to have fixated on Dr. Khorsandi after his patient posted a positive review of the care that Dr. Khorsandi provided. (APP004, ¶ 15.) In that review that was authored by a patient and left on Dr. Khorsandi's Google review page, the patient stated that she had previously received breast augmentation from Dr. Smith and was suffering some pain. (*Id.*) The patient stated that it was Dr. Khorsandi's conclusion that one of the implants was placed in backwards by Dr. Smith, but Dr. Khorsandi was able to alleviate her pain and fix her implant. (*Id.*) In his declaration, Dr. Khorsandi denies stating to the patient that her implant was placed in backwards, or attributing a mistake to Dr. Smith. (APP080.) Respondents were so incensed by the negative public review, they sent a cease-and-desist letter to Dr. Khorsandi asking him to remove the review on July 12, 2019, even though he was not the author of the review. (APP004, ¶ 16.)

Respondents' complaint details what it claims is an anonymous attack on the reputation of Respondents through a series of posts, authored by "Cecily S.," which contain negative comments and opinions about Respondents and their quality of work. (APP005, ¶ 22.) The complaint identifies multiple reviews posted by "Cecily S." on Respondents' Yelp page. These reviews were promptly taken down by Yelp, sometimes within hours, at Respondents' insistence. The August 7, 2019

experiences have a First Amendment right to express their opinions on Yelp." (APP075-76; APP078.)

review was removed by Yelp the same day. (APP006 ¶ 25.) So were the reviews on August 8, 9, and 14, 2019. (*Id.* ¶¶ 27, 29; APP007, ¶ 31; APP008, ¶ 34.) Respondents' complaint alleges that "Cecily S." is a pseudonym of Ms. Le, but the complaint provides no information or factual allegations to support this claim. (APP004, ¶ 18.) Respondents also allege that a review posted on Google Review was written by Ms. Le, but it is unclear from the complaint the basis for this conclusion. (APP008, ¶ 36.) Respondents' complaint also alleges that the statements were made with actual malice, but fails to allege any facts that support their malice allegation.

B. The Khorsandi Parties Seek the Protections of the Anti-SLAPP Statute Against Respondent's Meritless Claims.

Respondents filed their complaint on November 4, 2019, alleging a series of claims that all arise out of the negative reviews posted on Respondents' internet review sites.³ On January 10, 2020, within the 60 days allowed by statute, the

First Cause of Action: Slander Per Se – Google Review on Khorsandi Website; Second Cause of Action: Libel Per Se August 7, 2019 YELP Review by CECILY S.; Third Cause of Action: Libel Per Se – August 8, 2019 YELP Review; Fourth Cause of Action: Libel Per Se – August 9, 2019 YELP Review; Fifth Cause of Action: Libel Per Se – August 14, 2019 YELP Review; Sixth Cause of Action: Libel Per Se – August 14, 2019 Reply to Jessica on YELP Review; Seventh Cause of Action: Libel Per Se – August 14, 2019 Google Review as You Tuber; Eighth Cause of Action – Concert of Action, Aiding and Abetting, Civil Conspiracy; Ninth Cause of Action: Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; Tenth Cause of Action: False Light; Eleventh Cause of Action: Punitive Damages; Twelfth Cause of Action: Negligent Supervision and Training; Thirteenth Cause of Action:

Khorsandi Parties filed their Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) ("Special Motion to Dismiss"). The Special Motion to Dismiss attached the declarations of Dr. Khorsandi and Ms. Le, wherein they each deny making the statements alleged in the complaint. The Khorsandi Parties also argued that their denials satisfied the requirement in NRS 41.660(3)(a) to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the statements that form the basis for Respondents' complaint were made in good faith and that they could not and would not admit to making these statements in order to obtain relief under the anti-SLAPP statute. Further, California courts have held that communications such as public reviews about a medical professional's care constitute issues of public concern under the anti-SLAPP statute. The Khorsandi Parties' Special Motion to Dismiss also argued Respondents' complaint failed to state claims upon which relief can be granted under NRCP 12(b)(5). Therefore, even before there was any evaluation of evidence to support their claims, Respondents' complaint was so deficient that they could not show a probability of prevailing on the claims under NRS 41.660(3)(b).

Respondents' opposition was bereft of any evidence to support their allegations, or even an attempt to meet their burden under NRS 41.660(3)(b) to

Wrongful Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage; Fourteenth Cause of Action: Preliminary Injunction. (*See* APP001-24.)

present prima facie evidence of prevailing on the claims. Respondents attached nothing to support their central assertion that Cecily S. had any connection to the Khorsandi Parties. Instead, counsel's argument only served to highlight the lack of factual support for their claims when Respondents' filed suit. "Preliminary research shows that the defamatory statements were made at times and locations around the country where Dr. Khorsandi and [Ms. Le] were located." (APP105.) Respondents further claim that their "Complaint alleges facts that suggest [Ms. Le] posted the reviews under fake accounts with knowledge of the falsity of statements with the intent of harming Dr. Smith's business and reputation." (APP113.) However, Respondents fail to address their lack of factual allegations to support the claims against Dr. Khorsandi or the Practice instead relying on an information and belief statement that the Khorsandi Parties "conspired jointly to produce them." Respondents also state, repeatedly, that discovery would be necessary for them to muster support for their allegations and conflating the standards for a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment. "As such, dismissal of the Complaint at this time would be premature as there are multiple issues of genuine material fact precluding the same." (APP114; see also APP118; APP119.) Nothing in the record supports these wide-sweeping claims, and they are countered by the declarations of Dr. Khorsandi and Ms. Le that deny making these statements.

For the first time, at the hearing on February 19, 2020, counsel for Respondents provided information about the basis for their assertions that the statements were made at times and locations where Dr. Khorsandi or Ms. Le were located. The basis for these statements, however, is nowhere in the record as they were merely referenced during the hearing. (APP156-59.) It appears, however, that these were not the Yelp Reviews at issue in the litigation. Respondents attempt to assign significance to these posts that is not readily apparent, as the posts by Dr. Khorsandi and Cecily S. were often days apart in the large cities like Toronto and New York. (APP157-59.) And, again, these oral representations were made without any evidentiary support, leaving the Khorsandi Parties and the district court unable to assess them. The district court took the matter under advisement after expressing concerns about the application of the anti-SLAPP statute.

The district court issued its written order on March 4, 2020. In it, the district court denied the Khorsandi Parties Special Motion to Dismiss. The order attempted to distinguish the California statute from Nevada's statutory scheme, as well as the California cases that allow a court to dismiss a complaint wherein the defendant denies making the statement if it otherwise protected speech. "[S]ince Defendants deny making the statements, the Court finds there cannot be an analysis whether the statements were made in 'good faith,' which is the first consideration in each of the NRS anti-SLAPP states: NRS 41.637(4), NRS 41.650, NRS 41.660."

(APP173-74.) While the district court found that Respondents' complaint states claims upon which relief can be granted, it expressed concerns about the absence of evidence to support those claims. "Consequently, the evidence [Respondents] currently possess is arguably insufficient in the Courts view to raise even a prima facie case against [the Khorsandi Parties]." (APP175.) The Khorsandi Parties filed their appeal of the district court's denial of their Special Motion to Dismiss on March 30, 2020.⁴

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondents have a history of weaponizing the legal system in an attempt to rehabilitate their public image. The anti-SLAPP statute was enacted to prevent meritless lawsuits intended to impose a burden on a plaintiff's adversary. Respondents have done just that, filing a lawsuit without evidence and based on the merest speculation. The Khorsandi Parties ask this Court to reverse the district court's decision that they are not entitled to the protections of the anti-SLAPP statute because they deny making the statements at issue.

Under NRS 41.660(3)(a), defendants bear the burden of showing with a preponderance of the evidence that plaintiffs' claims were "based upon a good faith

Respondents filed a cross-appeal on April 22, 2020, which was outside of the time period allowed by NRAP 14(a)(2). Following an order to show cause, this Court dismissed the cross-appeal as untimely, and because Respondents were not an aggrieved party by the district court's order. (See Order Dismissing Cross-Appeal and Allowing Appeal to Proceed, Apr. 9, 2021.)

communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern; " Here, the Khorsandi Parties will not admit to making statements they did not make in order to receive the safe harbor of the anti-SLAPP statute. Instead, they met their burden to show good faith the only way they could, submitting declarations denying that they made the The Court should look to California law, which provides that a statements. defendant who denies making the statement should be entitled to the protections of the anti-SLAPP statute, lest the absurd result of allowing meritless claims to proceed against defendants who would not admit to making the statements at issue. Bel Air Internet, LLC v. Morales, 230 Cal. Rptr. 3d 71, 75 (2018). There can be little doubt that reviews about the quality of a doctor's medical care posted on a public review site like Yelp go to issues of public concern. See, e.g., Stark v. Lackey, 136 Nev. 38, 43, 458 P.3d 342, 347 (2020); Abrams v. Sanson, 136 Nev. 83, 87, 458 P.3d 1062, 1066 (2020). With that, the Khorsandi Parties have met their burden under NRS 41.660(3)(a).

The burden shifts to Respondents to demonstrate "with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim;" NRS 41.660(3)(b). Respondents did not, and cannot, meet that burden. Instead, their Opposition to the Special Motion to Dismiss only highlighted the lack of evidence to support their claims and provided nothing to rebut the Khorsandi Parties' declarations denying they made the

statements. In addition, Respondents' complaint is legally insufficient to support their claims for relief. Rather than pleading facts to support their allegations, Respondents' complaint simply recites legal conclusions. Even then, Respondents do not plead that Dr. Khorsandi or the Practice had any involvement in the Cecily S. posts. Nor can they show that negative reviews meet the standard for intentional infliction of emotional distress. Respondents' claims for negligent hiring, supervision, and training and intentional interference with prospective contractual relations similarly fail because they do not include the necessary factual allegations. Lacking all substance, Respondents have failed to meet their burden under NRS 41.660(3)(b) to show any evidence, let alone prima facie evidence, of prevailing on their claims. Accordingly, Respondents' claims against the Khorsandi Parties should be dismissed as a quintessential SLAPP lawsuit.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

The Court reviews a district court's denial of an anti-SLAPP motion de novo. *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. 8, 10-11, 432 P.3d 746, 748-49 (2019). "In making such a determination, we conduct an independent review of the record and consider affidavits concerning the facts upon which liability is based. We do not weigh the evidence, but instead accept the plaintiff's submissions as true and consider only 'whether any contrary evidence from the defendant establishes its entitlement to

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