IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.; CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC; and CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI

Appellants,

VS.

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., and LANE F. SMITH, M.D.,

Respondents.

Case No.: 80957

Electronically Filed Sep 21 2021 11:08 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

SGRO & ROGER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nevada law is clear. A person who denies making alleged defamatory statements cannot invoke the protections of Nevada's anti-SLAPP staute. Since the Khorsandi Parties deny having made the statements, the Special Motion to Dismiss should have been denied and the case allowed to proceed in the ordinary course. Even if the Khorsandi Parties admitted to making the statements, they are still not protected under the anti-SLAPP statute, because the statements are not good faith communications made in furtherance of the right to petition. However, should this Court determine that the Khorsandi Parties did meet their initial burden, the Smith Parties have established a prima facie case of prevailing on the claim.

Once the district court determined the Nevada Anti-SLAPP statute did not apply, the district court should have ended its analysis, denied the Khorsandi Parties' Special Motion to Dismiss and allowed the case to proceed with discovery in ordinary course.

As such, this Court should remand this matter to the District Court and allow discovery to proceed in ordinary course. In the alternative, this matter should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine who authored the defamatory statements.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a district court's denial of an anti-SLAPP motion de novo. *Smith v. Zilverberg*, 481 P.3d 1222, 1226, (Nev. 2021) (citing *Rosen v. Tarkanian*, 453 P.3d 1220, 1222 (Nev. 2019)). In reviewing the district court's grant or denial of an Anti-SLAPP motion, this Court must "accept plaintiff's submissions as true and consider only whether any contrary evidence from the defendant establishes its entitlement to prevail as a matter of law." *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. 8, 11, 432 P.3d 746, 749 (2019).

ARGUMENT

I. Legal Standard For A Nevada Anti-SLAPP Motion To Dismiss

"A SLAPP suit is a meritless lawsuit that a party initiates primarily to chill a defendant's exercise of his or her First Amendment free speech rights." *Stubbs v. Strickland*, 129 Nev. 146, 297 P.3d 326 (2013). Nevada's anti-SLAPP law is intended to protect certain good faith communications that are truthful or made without knowledge of their falsehood, provided that they are "[m]ade in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum." NRS 41.637(4). Anti-SLAPP statutes provide defendants with a procedural mechanism whereby they may file a special motion to dismiss the meritless lawsuit before incurring significant costs of litigation. NRS 41.660(1); *Stark v. Lackey*, 136 Nev. 38, 458 P.3d 342 (2020). Nevada's anti-SLAPP statutes posit a two-prong analysis to determine the viability of a special motion to dismiss. *Coker v. Sassone*, 135 Nev. 8, 11, 432 P.3d 746, 749 (2019). In the first prong, the district court must "[d]etermine whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.660(3)(a).

Prong one of the analysis has two components; (1) the comments at issue must fall into one of the four categories of protected communications enumerated in NRS 41.637; and (2) the communication must be truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. *Delucchi v. Songer*, 133 Nev. 290, 299, 396 P.3d 826, 833 (2017). A defendant must establish both of the components under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute before the district court can move on to the second prong. If the district court finds the defendant has met his or her burden in the first prong, the court must then "determine whether the plaintiff has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim" in the second prong. NRS 41.660(3)(b).

Here, the statements contained in the public reviews do not automatically qualify as protected speech, given that the reviews may have been authored by an individual who has never been a patient nor received the medical treatment being criticized, which would make the statements in the reviews knowingly false, in direct contradiction with the second component of the first prong of the Nevada Anti-SLAPP statue.

A. Nevada's Anti-SLAPP Statute Does Not Protect Individuals Who Deny Making the Defamatory Statements.

The Khorsandi Parties deny authoring the statements at issue yet they have attempted to invoke the anti-SLAPP statute which is intended to protect an individual's right to free speech. Nevada's Anti-SLAPP protections serve as a defense against lawsuits that would otherwise dissuade or penalize those who would *appropriately* exercise their First Amendment rights. The statute is not intended to protect individuals who deny making defamatory statements as the Khorsandi Parties have because the protection only applies to statements made in an an appropriate exercise of a person's First Amendment right. By denying making the statements, the Khorsandi Parties have forfeited the right to invoke the anti-SLAPP statute.

1. Nevada's Anti-SLAPP Statute is Narrower Than California.

The Khorsandi Parties urge this Court to broaden the protections afforded by the anti-SLAPP statute to include protections of persons who deny making the statements. However, such broadening is inconsistent with the purpose of the Nevada anti-SLAPP statute. Both Nevada and California Anti-SLAPP statutes aim to protect First Amendment rights by providing defendants with a procedural mechanism to dismiss meritless lawsuits that a party initiates primarily to chill a defendant's exercise of his or her First Amendment free speech rights before incurring the costs of litigation. Nev. Rev. St. § 41.660.

Although similar in purpose and language, California and Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes are not indistinguishable. Historically, the speech and the circumstances in which the Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute applies is narrower than California's Anti-SLAPP statute which is intended to cover a vast range of subjects that were of the public interest and made in a public forum. Specifically, California Code of Civil Procedure Section 425.16, the anti-SLAPP statute, allows a court to strike any cause of action that arises from the defendant's exercise of his or her constitutionally protected rights of free speech or petition for redress of grievances.

While both Nevada and California set forth a two-step process for determining whether an action is a SLAPP suit, Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute is more narrowly tailored and requires an additional showing from the party seeking the protection. In Nevada, the communication must fall within one of the four categories of protected communications enumerated in NRS 41.637. *Delucchi v. Songer*, 133 Nev. 290, 299, 396 P.3d 826, 833 (2017). Nevada law limits the use of Anti-SLAPP to these four enumerated categories, which is significantly more constricted than the California Code which protects "[a]ny act of in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or the California Constitution in connection with a public issue". California Code of Civil Procedure ("CCP") Section 425.16.

In addition, the Nevada statute requires the moving party to establish that the communication is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood. NRS 41.637. This provision is not contemplated by the broader California law. Only if the movant has met these initial burdens may the Court then proceed to the second prong of the statue and consider whether the Plaintiff has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim. NRS 41.660(3)(a). As such, the plain language of the Nevada Anti-SLAPP statue is irrefutably more restrictive than the language of its California counterpart and must be applied as such.

a. The Khorsandi Parties' Reliance on California Case Law Fails.

The Khorsandi Parties argue that this Court should follow the decision of the California Court of Appeals in *Bel Air Internet, LLC v. Morales*, 230 Cal. Rptr. 3d 71 (2018). In *Bel Air*, a company brought an action against a former employee who was alleged to have encouraged other employees to quit and sue the company. *Id* at 77. The employee filed a motion to strike under California's anti-SLAPP statute. *Id*. Despite denying having made the offending statements, the employee argued that such speech would nevertheless be protected conduct under as it was made in connection with petitioning activity protected by the anti-SLAPP statute. *Id*. The California Court of Appeals found for the employee and held that, "[i]f the complaint

itself shows that a claim arises from protected conduct . . . a moving party may rely on the plaintiff's allegations alone in making the showing necessary under prong one without submitting supporting evidence." *Id.* at 80.

Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute is much narrower than the California statute. California recognizes that an anti-SLAPP special motion to strike may be brought against "[a] cause of action against a person arising from *any act* of that person *in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech* under the United States Constitution or the California Constitution in *connection with a public issue*." California: CA CIV PRO § 425.16(b)(1).

Since the Khorsandi Parties denied making the public posts and the statements contained within the posts do not automatically qualify as protected speech, the district court properly concluded its anti-SLAPP analysis.

B. A Review of Medical Treatment is Not an Issue of Public Concern if the Author Has Never Been a Patient Nor Received The Treatment Referenced in The Reviews.

Unlike California, Nevada anti-SLAPP statute protects only "a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.660(1). The difference of language between the two statutes is clear and unambiguous.

Here, the Khorsandi Parties argue that because the statements supposedly arose from an evaluation of the quality of medical care the statements constitute an issue of public concern, and are therefore protected under the statute. However, this assertion blatantly ignores the good faith requirement outlined in NRS 41.660(1).

As the district court correctly asserted within its Order, statements regarding medical care do not automatically qualify as protected speech under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes. There is a difference between an individual posting a review about medical treatment which they actually received and a competitor posting false medical reviews in an attempt to harm a business.

The Khorsandi Parties attempt to seek refuge under NRS 41.660 but have failed to meet the initial burden to show that the communications in question are even protected by the anti-SLAPP statute. *Delucchi v. Songer*, 396 P.3d 826, 831 (Nev. 2017). The Khorsandi Parties have failed demonstrate they are entitled to protection under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute, because they cannot show by a preponderance of evidence that the statements were good faith communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern, which are truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood.

Of utmost importance to the instant matter, is how a communication which qualifies for protection under anti-SLAPP is defined. NRS 41.637 defines a "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern" as any of the following:

19

- 1. Communication that is aimed at procuring any governmental or electoral action, result or outcome;
- 2. Communication of information or a complaint to a Legislator, officer or employee of the Federal Government, this state or a political subdivision of this state, regarding a matter reasonably of concern to the respective governmental entity;
- 3. Written or oral statement made in direct connection with an issue under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or any other official proceeding authorized by law; or
- 4. Communication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum,

which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.

At issue in this case is subsection 4, regarding a communication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum.

The district court found that the quality of a doctor's patient care is most certainly an issue of public interest and review sites like Yelp are public forums. However, the district court made it clear that if discovery reveals that the Khorsandi Parties did author the reviews, the reviews would be made in bad faith, given that neither Dr. Khorsandi nor Catherine Le have ever been patients of Dr. Smith and therefore, the reviews contain knowingly false statements. (APP170; APP152).

Therefore, the central issue in this case is the identity of the individual who posted the public reviews criticizing Dr. Smith's medical care and treatment, which is a question of fact.

Although the online reviews have to do with the evaluation of medical treatment, the individual who authored the reviews must first be determined in order for the court to properly assess whether the online reviews qualify for protection under Nevada's anti-SLAPP laws. As the District Court stated:

...there is a fine line between saying that evaluation of a doctor's care is protected speech and saying that potentially false statements are protected just because the subject matter of the false statements regard a doctor's care. (APP173).

Therefore, without establishing the identity of the individual who authored the online posts, the Khorsandi Parties cannot demonstrate the public reviews are good faith communications, nor that the statements contained therein are truthful or made without knowledge of falsehood. Therefore, anti-SLAPP does not apply because the identity of the author is a question of fact and the case must be permitted to move forward with discovery. If discovery reveals that the Khorsandi Parties authored the online reviews, the reviews would be knowingly false and thus not protected under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. As such, the district court properly concluded its anti-SLAPP analysis without determining whether the Smith Parties demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.

If the online review was made by an individual who actually received medical treatment from Dr. Smith, then the statements may be subject to protection under Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute. However, if discovery reveals that the Khorsandi Parties authored the online reviews, then the Khorsandi Parties cannot demonstrate a "good faith communication" required under the Nevada statute because the statements would not constitute a communication which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood because neither have been patients of Dr. Smith.

1. Appellants Rely On Cases Which Are Distinguishable From This Matter.

The Khorsandi Parties rely on a number of cases that are distinguishable from the matter at hand in an effort to support their theory that the Khorsandi Parties met their burden of establishing the statements were good faith communications. In Rosen v. Tarkanian, 135 Nev. 436, 453 P.3d 1220 (2019), the Court considered a political ad created by the defendant that contained negative statements of the plaintiff's past business dealings. 453 P.3d at 1222. The Court found that additional evidence affirming the "gist or sting" of the alleged defamatory statements showed that the statements were substantively true. Id. at 1224. The defendant also "asserted that she believed that the statements were true based on multiple public accounts and Tarkanian's own admissions about his involvement with the corporations." Id. at 1222. In *Rosen*, the court concluded that Rosen met her burden under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute because the "gist or sting" of her statements were substantially true or made without knowledge of their falsehood.

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